FILED Nov 19, 2012

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 30933-9-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
V.
RYAN QUAALE,
Appellant.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY
The Honorable Gregory D. Sypolt, Judge
BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER L. DOBSON DANA M. NELSON Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History

On September 14, 2011, the Spokane County prosecutor charged appellant Ryan Quaale with one count of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle (count I) and one count of felony DUI (count II). CP 3-4. At his first trial, a jury found Quaale guilty

of attempting to elude but could not reach a verdict on the other DUI charge. CP 83-84. At his second trial, a jury convicted Quaale of felony DUI. CP 99. He was sentenced to serve 12 months on count I and 60 months on count II. CP 127-38. Quaale timely appeals. CP 139-40.

2. Substantive Facts¹

On August 28, 2011, Officer Chris Stone observed Quaale's truck speeding down Lane Park Road in the city of Mead. 2RP 4-6.² After Stone activated his lights and began to follow, Quaale turned the truck lights off and accelerated. 2RP 6. He overshot a corner, skidded off the road into a front yard, and then continued to drive away. 2RP 7. Officer Stone turned on his siren. 2RP 7.

Quaale stopped his truck and immediately exited. 2RP 11.

Stone drew his gun and ordered Quaale to the ground. 2RP 12.

As Stone handcuffed Quaale, he detected the odor of alcohol. 2RP 12.

Stone conducted the HGN test and determined he had probable cause to arrest Quaale. 2RP 24, 27.

¹ Because this appeal raises issues pertaining only to count II, this brief sets forth facts as they were presented at the second trial.

² The transcripts are referred to as follows: 1RP (2-13-12, 2-14-12, 6-5-12); 2RP (4-9-12, 5-17-12); 3RP (4-9-12).

After Stone transported Quaale to the police station, he read the implied consent warnings for a breath test. 3RP 28-29. Quaale refused. 3RP 31. Instead, he asserted that Stone had not followed proper field sobriety test procedures. 3RP 32.

3. Opinion Evidence

At trial, Officer Stone testified that he was a Drug Recognition Expert (DRE) who had been trained in HGN testing. He also explained the importance of HGN testing, the procedures employed in conducting the test, and the degree to which the test measures impairment. 2RP 14-27. After so doing, the prosecutor asked:

In this case, based on the HGN test alone, did you form an opinion based on your training and experience as to whether or not Mr. Quaale's ability to operate a motor vehicle was impaired?

2RP 33. Defense counsel immediately objected on the ground that opinion solicited went to the ultimate issue determining guilt, but she was overruled. 2RP 33. Stone was allowed to answer: "Absolutely. There was no doubt he was impaired." 2RP 33.

4. Facts Pertaining to Prosecutorial Misconduct and Motion to Dismiss

During cross examination of Officer Stone, defense counsel asked whether Quaale's license was already suspended at the time

of the incident. 2RP 43. Officer Stone confirmed that it had been revoked. 2RP 43. The defense intended to use this fact to argue that Quaale attempted to elude the officer because he had a suspended license, not because he was driving under the influence of alcohol. 3RP 84-85.

Immediately upon redirect, the prosecutor asked Officer Stone why Quaale's license had been revoked. 2RP 47. Defense counsel objected. 2RP 47. Outside the jury's presence, the parties argued whether defense counsel had opened the door to further testimony about the suspended license. 2RP 47-49. It was the defense's position that merely asking Stone about Quaale's license status did not open the door to highly prejudicial testimony regarding why the license had been revoked. 2RP 48. The trial court disagreed and permitted the State to proceed. 2RP 50. When the jury returned, Officer Stone testified Quaale's license had been revoked because he previously refused to take a breath test. 2RP 51.

Prior to closing argument, defense counsel renewed her objection. 3RP 2. The prosecutor stated that she had only delved into the issue of Quaale's suspended license because the defense had opened the door and that she was not going to address it in

closing arguments unless the defense pressed the issue during its argument. 3RP 3. The trial court ruled that it was "going to permit the evidence to stand, and it may be responded to in rebuttal." 3RP 4. Defense counsel then asked: "So Your Honor, to clarify, if in closing arguments it is not discussed by me, is that then limiting the State as well?" 3RP 4. The trial court responded: "Right." 3RP 4.

During closing argument, the defense never once referred to Quaale's license status. Despite this, the prosecutor disregarded the trial court's ruling during its rebuttal argument, prompting the following exchange:

[Prosecutor]: ... I mean you also know that he is revoked because he refused the breath test before. So, at this point, what does he have to lose –

[Defense Counsel]: Objection, Your Honor –

[Judge]: Just a minute. Let me hear the objection. I will sustain the objection because it was not raised during closing directly ... Jury will disregard the last comment.

[Prosecutor]: We know he was revoked. We know he didn't have a license. So, at that point, what do we have to lose –

[Defense Counsel]: Objection, Your Honor.

[Judge]: I will permit that. Go ahead.3

[Prosecutor]: He doesn't have a license. So okay, I don't have a license, revoke it, revoke my privilege to drive because I don't have it anyway.

3RP 9-10.

After argument, the defense moved for a mistrial on the ground that the State violated the trial court's prior ruling. Defense counsel explained she had specifically decided to adjust her theories, relying on the trial court's ruling that if she did not discuss the license status in her closing, the State would not be permitted to address the issue in its closing, either. 2RP 73. The prosecutor responded that she would never have addressed the revoked license status in argument if defense counsel had brought it up in her argument. 2RP 73-74. Defense counsel assured the trial court she never mentioned the revoked status. 2RP 74. The trial court reserved ruling until transcripts could be obtained. 2RP 75.

³ The trial court later explained its decision to sustain the first objection but not the second was based on a distinction between the license status and the reasons for the suspension. 2RP 74. However, the trial court's clarification to defense about the limitations that would be placed on State's argument was never predicated on this distinction. 3RP 4.

Defense counsel obtained the relevant transcript and attached it to her Motion for Mistrial and Motion to Dismiss under CrR 8.3(b). CP 100-120. The transcript revealed defense counsel did not discuss Quaale's license status. 3RP 5-9.

Defense counsel asked for dismissal, arguing the prosecutor had violated the order and no limiting instruction could have cured the resulting prejudice to the defense because defense counsel had already abandoned an important line of defense in reliance on the court's previous ruling. CP 100-120; 2RP 84-89.

Faced with the transcript, the State backed away from its original position that the only reason it brought up the subject of the revoked license was because defense counsel had addressed the issue in closing. 2RP 87-88; 3RP 3. Instead, the prosecutor admitted she had violated the court's ruling. 2RP 88. She asserted, however, that she had been justified in arguing about the revoked license because it was a fair response to the defense's argument. 2RP 88-89. Specifically, it was the prosecutor's position that the defense had opened the door to the improper argument by discussing the fact Quaale had exercised his right to refuse to

undertake a breath test.4 2RP 88-89.

The trial court denied the motion, ruling that defense counsel's statements that Officer Stone "told Mr. Quaale had had the right to refuse the test" and that he "exercised his right" opened the door for the prosecutor to argue about the license status. The court reasoned that "the tendency of the defense statement was to advance a rationale for the decision to refuse the breath test" and "[t]he prosecution is entitled to counter with an alternative rationale for refusing the breath test." In so ruling, the court did not consider the parameters of its prior ruling or the prejudice to the defense. CP 121-22.

The trooper told you that he read those implied consent warnings to Mr. Quaale. He told Mr. Quaale he had the right to refuse the test. Mr. Quaale exercised his right. He showed no confusion, the trooper said no confusion about any of the rights. I would submit that someone who is so obviously impaired would probably be a little confused about everything that is going on, probably wouldn't know what typically happens out at the scene, that there are these standard field sobriety tests. I mean, [h]e asked why he had not done them. Why not give him an opportunity to complete them?

3RP 8.

⁴ Defense counsel's argument was as follows:

C. ARGUMENT

I. QUAALE WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL WHEN THE JURY HEARD POLICE OFFICER STONE'S OPINION ABOUT QUAALE'S GUILT.

Quaale's right to a fair trial was violated when the State presented Officer Stone's opinion that, given HGN results alone, he had no doubt Quaale's ability to drive was impaired. This was an impermissible comment on guilt for which there was a timely objection. As such, the trial court committed constitutional error when it overruled the objection and permitted the opinion to be admitted to the jury as substantive evidence.

A defendant's right to a fair trial under the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution is violated when a witness is permitted to express his or her opinion as to guilt. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 927-28, 155 P.3d 125 (2007); State v. Johnson, 152 Wn. App. 924, 931-35, 219 P.3d 958 (2009). The evil sought to be avoided by prohibiting a witness from expressing an opinion as to the defendant's guilt or innocence is having that witness tell the jury what result to reach, rather than allowing the jury to make an independent evaluation of the facts. 5A K. Tegland, Wash.Prac., Evidence, § 309, at 470 (3d ed. 1989). Consequently, no witness may express an opinion as to the guilt of

a defendant, whether by direct statement or inference. State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987).

As the Washington Supreme Court has held, it is "clearly inappropriate" for the State to offer opinion testimony in criminal trials that amounts to an expression of personal belief as to the guilt of the defendant. State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008) (citation omitted). Such an opinion is not helpful to the jury and is highly prejudicial; thus it offends both constitutional principals and the rules of evidence. Id. at 591, n. 5.

To determine whether a statement constitutes improper opinion testimony, courts consider the following five factors: (1) the nature of the charges; (2) the type of defense; (3) the type of witness; (4) the specific nature of the testimony; (5) and the other evidence before the trier of fact. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 591.

Applying these factors here, Stone's opinion that Quaale's ability to drive was absolutely impaired due to the presence of alcohol constituted an improper comment on guilt.

As to the first factor, Quaale was charged with felony DUI under RCW 46.61.502. This statute provides in relevant part:

A person is guilty of driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug if the person drives a vehicle within this state ... [w]hile the person is under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor ...

RCW 46.61.502(1). The jury was instructed: "A person is under the influence of or affected by the use of intoxicating liquor if the person's ability to drive a motor vehicle is lessened in any appreciable degree." CP 92.

The defense did not contest the fact Quaale drove a motor vehicle in the State of Washington. 3RP 5-9. Quaale also stipulated to the requisite conviction that elevated the offense to a felony. CP 93. Thus, the core issue for the jury to decide was whether he was impaired by alcohol. See, State v. Olmedo, 112 Wn. App. 525, 532, 49 P.3d 960 (2002) (focusing on the "core element" of the charges when concluding a witness offered an impermissible opinion as to guilt); State v. Farr-Lenzini, 93 Wn. App. 453, 465, 970 P.2d 313 (1999) (reversing where officer's improper opinion on defendant's guilt shown to invade jury's province regarding the "core element" of the case).

Turning to the second factor, Quaale's defense focused on the State's failure to meet its burden of proving impairment, as opposed to proving mere consumption of alcohol. 3RP 5-8. The defense emphasized the fact that it is not illegal to consume alcohol and drive – it is only illegal if the person's driving is impaired by the presence of alcohol. 3RP 5, 8. The defense argued the State could not show impairment where the only witness to the offense was an officer who conducted just one field sobriety test (HGN) that was not even fully completed, smelled alcohol on the defendant but failed to check his clothing to see if alcohol had been spilled, and failed to note any other common signs of alcohol impairment (such as slurred speech, blood-shot and watery eyes, flushed face, etc.). 3RP 5-8; 2RP 44-46. Thus, the defense theory further emphasized the fact that the core issue for determining guilt was whether Quaale was impaired.

Applying the third and fourth factors, the type of witness and the nature of the opinion testimony at issue here demonstrate that Stone's comment on guilt was an unreasonable encroachment on the province of the jury to independently decide facts and reach a conclusion regarding guilt.

First, the opining witness was an officer who was testifying as a Drug Recognition Expert and offering an opinion based on a seemingly scientific method of measuring impairment. 2RP 13-27, 35. Notably, Officer Stone's opinion was predicated solely upon the

HGN results (2RP 33), not on his personal observation of "commonly known" alcohol effects, such as slurred words, watery eyes, alcohol odor, flushed face. Thus, this was not the type of intoxication opinion testimony that is commonly permitted after the witness has had an opportunity to observe someone. 2RP 33, 44-46; See, State v. Lewellyn, 78 Wn. App. 788, 796, 895 P.2d 418 (1995) (distinguishing between permissible lay opinion about degree of intoxication that is based on the witness' observation of the defendant's demeanor and expert opinions regarding the degree of intoxication that are based on specialized knowledge). Instead, Officer Stone's opinion was based solely upon his specialized knowledge of the scientifically-based HGN test. State v. Beatty, 140 Wn.2d 1, 12-18, 991 P.2d 1151 (2000) (holding the HGN test is scientific in nature and an officer presenting the testimony must be qualified as an expert).

Importantly, the nature of Officer Stone's improper opinion was such that it reached beyond the bounds of acceptable expert testimony regarding HGN test results, and thus, was highly prejudicial. A DRE witness may only testify that an HGN test can reliably show the <u>presence</u> of alcohol and may not testify that the test can be used to determine any levels of intoxicants. State v.

Koch, 126 Wn. App. 589, 597, 103 P.3d 1280 (2005) (citing <u>Beatty</u>, 140 Wn.2d at 17-18). Officer Stone did not merely offer his opinion that the HGN results showed the presence of alcohol, he offered an opinion that based on the HGN results alone there was no doubt Quaale had consumed enough alcohol to impair his ability to drive. ⁵ 2RP 33. The case law does not support the scientific reliability of this conclusion, making his testimony misleading and prejudicial.

Officer Stone's comment on guilt was also particularly troublesome because it carried with it an aura reliability which was not mitigated with proper instructions. The Washington Supreme Court has stated that an officer's live opinion testimony – such as that given by Stone – carries with it "an aura of special reliability and trustworthiness." State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 763, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001) (citations omitted). Additionally, the nature of Stone's comment on guilt also carried with it a compelling "scientific aura" because it was predicated solely upon on a DRE's consideration of HGN results. See, Beatty, 140 Wn.2d at 11 (explaining this type of testimony carries with it a "scientific aura"). This type of testimony is dangerous because it has a tendency to

⁵ Officer Stone explicitly told the jury that the HGN was a very important tool in investigating DUIs and that it can detect degrees of impairment. 2RP 25-26.

lead jurors to place undue significance on it. Moreover, in this case, the trial court failed to mitigate this danger by giving the standard expert opinion instruction explicitly informing the jury that it was not bound by the expert's opinion. See, Kirkland, 159 Wn.2d at 937 (explaining expert opinion instruction is an important factor to be considered when determining the constitutional impact of improper expert opinions about guilt).

Officer Stone's opinion was also particularly invasive of the province of the jury because it consisted of a direct expression of personal belief that was presented in terms that parroted the legal standard. "Opinions on guilt are improper whether direct or by inference, but it is very troubling that the testimony in this case was quite direct and used explicit expressions of personal belief...."

Montgomery 163 Wn.2d at 594. An opinion is also more troubling if stated in conclusory terms parroting the legal standard. Id.

⁶ WPIC 6.51 provides: "A witness who has special training, education or experience in a particular science, profession or calling, may be allowed to express an opinion in addition to giving testimony as to facts. You are not bound, however, by such an opinion. In determining the credibility and weight to be given such opinion evidence, you may consider, among other things, the education, training, experience, knowledge and ability of that witness, the reasons given for the opinion, the sources of the witness' information, together with the factors already given you for evaluating the testimony of any other witness."

(citing <u>State v. Heatley</u>, 70 Wn. App. 573, 581, 854 P.2d 658 (1993). Here, Officer Stone explicitly expressed his personally belief that the HGN results "absolutely" established Quaale's driving was impaired. Furthermore, the question posed by the prosecutor to which Stone answered affirmatively parroted the legal standard for determining whether the defendant was driving under the influence. Under these circumstances, the opinion can only be characterized as an improper opinion on guilt. <u>See, State v. Mauer,</u> 409 N.W.2d 196 (Iowa.Ct.App. 1987) (concluding it was reversible error where officer testified in a DUI case that, based on his observations of defendant, "it is my opinion beyond any reasonable doubt that the defendant was operating a motor vehicle ... while he was under the influence of an alcoholic beverage").

When applying the fifth factor, a reviewing court should consider other evidence before the trier of fact to determine whether the improper opinion testimony should have been avoided and whether it was particularly prejudicial. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 591. The Washington Supreme Court has explained opinion testimony should be avoided if the information can be presented in such a way that the jury can draw its own conclusions. Id. at 592 (explaining "It is unnecessary for a witness to express

belief that certain facts or findings lead to a conclusion of guilt.").

Given the evidence here, the jury did not need to hear Stone's personal belief that the HGN results alone established the core issue that Quaale's ability to drive was "absolutely" impaired by alcohol. The jury had heard Stone's testimony about how the HGN test detects the presence of alcohol, how the test was administered, and what the officer personally observed when he administered the test to Quaale. 3RP 12-27. Hence, the jury was in just as good of a position as Officer Stone to draw reasonable inferences as to whether that test established impairment beyond a reasonable doubt. Consequently, the prosecutor should not have asked Officer Stone to render an opinion as to what conclusion to draw from the HGN regarding Quaale's alleged impairment.

Finally, the comment on guilt was highly prejudicial in this case and its admission cannot be considered harmless error.⁷ As the first mistrial indicates, the State's case was not overwhelmingly strong. CP 84. Stone administered solely the HGN test, as far as field sobriety tests are concerned. 3RP 27, 39. And this test only

⁷ Because this type of error is of constitutional magnitude, prejudice is presumed, and the State bears the burden of proving the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Olmedo</u>, 112 Wn. App. at 533.

reliably measures the presence of alcohol, not the degree of impairment. Koch, 126 Wn. App. at 597. There was another field sobriety test that could have been administered, even with the defendant hand-cuffed, but Stone failed to administer it. 3RP 37. Beyond odor, the officer made no other observations of physical characteristics that are commonly known to indicate intoxication. 3RP 44-46. And the officer did not rule out the possibility that the alcoholic odor was coming from Quaale's clothing, rather than his 3RP 46. breath. Quaale showed no confused thinking when engaging with the officer and exercising his right to refuse the breath test. Moreover, the officer testified that he arrested the defendant for attempting to elude, not because he suspected drunk driving. 2RP 43.

In response, the State may argue – as it did to the jury – that defendant's attempt to elude demonstrated impaired thinking. 2RP 67. This argument should be rejected for two reasons. First, whether the defendant's driving during his attempt to elude was the product of a logical thought process or impaired thinking was a question for the jury. Based on this record, however, the State cannot show the jury ever weighed the evidence to determine that factual question, as it already had before it the officer's opinion

(based on the HGN result) that Quaale was absolutely impaired – an opinion that carried with it a special aura of reliability.

Second, as set forth in greater detail below, the defense was never able to fully respond to the State's argument regarding Quaale's thought-process during the eluding, because defense counsel made a tactical decision to forgo certain theories in response to the court's prior ruling — a ruling that was ultimately violated be the prosecutor. As such, any weight that might be given the State's argument regarding Quaale's thinking during the attempted eluding is tainted by prosecutorial misconduct. Given this record, it cannot be said beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have reached the same result without that impermissible opinion.

In sum, application all five factors for determining whether an impermissible comment on guilt has occurred support the conclusion that Stone rendered an constitutionally impermissible opinion about Quaale's guilt, thus denying Quaale a fair jury trial. Reversal is, therefore, required. See, e.g., Black, 109 Wn.2d at 349 (reversing where witness testified that the victim suffered from rape trauma syndrome which constituted "in essence" a statement that the defendant was guilty); Farr-Lenzini, 93 Wn. App. at 465

(reversing where improper officer opinion on defendant's guilt shown to invade jury's province).

II. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITED MISCONDUCT WHEN SHE VIOLATED A PRIOR COURT ORDER.

During rebuttal argument, the prosecutor violated the court ruling limiting the State's ability to argue about Quaale's revoked license status. There was no justification for this violation. Furthermore, the violation resulted in Quaale unnecessarily forgoing the opportunity to argue a key defense theory, thus prejudicing his ability to put forth a complete defense and his right to a fair trial.

Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of the fair trial guaranteed under the state and federal constitutions. State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984); State v. Evans, 163 Wn. App. 635, 642, 260 P.3d 934 (2011). Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal if the prosecuting attorney's conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the context of the entire record and circumstances at trial. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551 (2011) (citations omitted); State v. Hughes, 118 Wn. App. 713, 727, 77 P.3d 681 (2003).

Because of their unique position in the justice system, prosecutors must steer wide from unfair trial tactics. <u>Monday</u>, 171 Wn.2d at 676.

A prosecutor serves two important functions. A prosecutor must enforce the law by prosecuting those who have violated the peace and dignity of the state by breaking the law. A prosecutor also functions as the representative of the people in a quasijudicial capacity in a search for justice.

<u>Id</u>. Defendants are among the people the prosecutor represents and, therefore, the prosecutor owes a duty to defendants to see that their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated. <u>Id</u>. Consequently, prosecutorial misconduct has been found where the prosecutor has violated a trial court's ruling limiting the production or use of certain evidence. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State v. Smith</u>, 189 Wash. 422, 428, 65 P.2d 1075 (1937); <u>State v. Stith</u>, 71 Wn. App. 14, 23, 856 P.2d 415 (1993).

Here, the prosecutor admitted she violated the trial court's ruling. 2RP 87. However, she argued – and the trial court ultimately agreed – "Once the defendant made the closing argument that the defendant was exercising his right to refuse the test the State was permitted to argue that the reason the defendant exercised his right was because he did not have a license." CP

121-22. A fair reading of the record does not support this contention and establishes that the prosecutor's violation was both improper and prejudicial.

First, the prosecutor's suggestion that she merely brought up the revocation as a fair response to defense counsel's comments about Quaale's exercise of his right to refuse is belied by the argument she first put forward. The prosecutor originally claimed that she would have never addressed the license status had defense counsel not first addressed the topic in closing. 2RP 73. There was no discussion from the prosecutor about whether the defense's mention that Quaale exercised his right to refuse had invited the improper argument. It was not until after the defense produced the transcript, that the prosecutor manufactured her new position.

Second, the transcript clearly shows the trial court's ruling put the parties on notice that the prosecutor would be permitted to address the revocation testimony in rebuttal only if the defense first addressed in its closing argument. There was no caveat establishing that if the defense mentioned the fact that Quaale exercised his right to refuse a breath test, the State could delve into the revocation testimony. Thus, the defense did not open the door

by mentioning that fact.

Third, contrary to the trial court's ruling, a fair and complete reading of record reveals defense counsel's reference to the fact Quaale exercised his right of refusal had no practical "tendency to advance a rational for the decision to refuse the breath test." CP 122. Defense counsel merely stated that Stone advised Quaale that he had the right to refuse the test and Quaale exercised his right. 3RP 8. Defense counsel then immediately advanced its only argument regarding the significance of this fact, explaining that Quaale did not display any confusion about the advisement and this had the tendency to show his thinking was not impaired by alcohol. 3RP 8. Given this, it cannot reasonably be said that the defense's argument invited the prosecutor to violate the court's ruling and emphasize the prejudicial evidence.

Fourth, both the State and the trial court failed to address the fact that defense counsel had justifiably and detrimentally relied on the court's ruling limiting argument. The defense had planned to address Quaale's license status in closing argument and, from this fact, argue that Quaale attempted to elude, not because he was impaired by alcohol, but because he was driving with a suspended license. Concerned this argument would open the door for the

State to emphasize the prejudicial evidence in rebuttal, however, the defense made the decision to forego this theory. After the State's violation of the court's ruling in its final argument, the defense's abandonment of this theory was without purpose or effect – except to limit Quaale's ability to present a complete defense to the jury.

In sum, the prosecutor's violation of the court's previous ruling was a significant irregularity and patently unfair. As such, the prosecutor's misconduct prejudiced Quaale's right to present a complete defense and his right to a fair trial.

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