# FILED

#### 30933-9-III

# **COURT OF APPEALS**

# **DIVISION III**

#### COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAN 1 6 2013

# OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

# RYAN R. QUAALE, APPELLANT

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SPOKANE COUNTY

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

STEVEN J. TUCKER Prosecuting Attorney

Andrew J. Metts Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

# FILED

#### 30933-9-III

# **COURT OF APPEALS**

# **DIVISION III**

# OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

# RYAN R. QUAALE, APPELLANT

# **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- A. CAN A DEFENDANT PREVENT A WITNESS FROM
  TESTIFYING AS TO HIS OBSERVATIONS BY LABELING
  THE TESTIMONY A COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE?
- B. HAS THE DEFENDANT SHOWN THAT ANY PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT WAS PREJUDICIAL?
- C. DOES CUMULATIVE ERROR APPLY TO THIS CASE?
- D. DOES REPRISING AN ARGUMENT UNDER CrR 8.3
  INCREASE ITS VALIDITY?

III.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the purposes of this appeal only, the State accepts the defendant's factual Statement of the Case.

#### IV.

#### ARGUMENT

A. THE TROOPER WAS TESTIFYING TO THE RESULTS OF HIS OBSERVATIONS AS A TRAINED DRUG RECOGNITION EXPERT.

The defendant is arguing for an enlargement of Washington Constitutional law so that all relevant testimony from a State witness will be labeled an impermissible comment on guilt and thus barred from trials.

ER 704 states: "Testimony in the form of an opinion or inferences otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact." ER 704. Aside from the fact that the trooper was a trained DRE officer who was trained in administering the horizontal gaze nystagmus test.

Some time back, Division I of the Court of Appeals addressed this issue in City of Seattle v. Heatley, 70 Wn. App. 573, 854 P.2d 658 (1993). The Heatley court stated:

Whether testimony constitutes an impermissible opinion on guilt or a permissible opinion embracing an 'ultimate issue' will generally depend on the specific circumstances of each case, including the type of witness involved, the specific nature of the testimony, the nature of the charges, the type of defense, and the other evidence before the trier of fact. See generally Sanders, 66 Wash.App. at 380, 832 P.2d 1326. The trial court must be accorded broad discretion to determine the admissibility of ultimate issue testimony, Jones, 59 Wash.App. at 751, 801 P.2d 263, and this court has expressly declined to take an expansive view of claims that testimony constitutes an opinion on guilt. See State v. Wilber, 55 Wash.App. 294, 298, 777 P.2d 36 (1989) (analyzing officers' testimony that 'inferentially' constituted opinion on guilt as expert testimony under ER 702).

# Heatley, supra at 579.

The court in *Heatley* also upheld the admission of the trooper's observations that the defendant was "impaired." As with the *Heatley* case, the trooper in this case simply related what he saw and what his training told him. There was no comment on the defendant's guilt. Truly, the trooper's comments could lead the jury to find the defendant guilty of DUI, but it is the very fact that the comments could lead a jury to convict is exactly why the comments are relevant in the first place.

The defendant claims that the trooper did not "...merely offer his opinion that the HGN results showed the presence of alcohol..." Brf. of App. 15. The defendant claims that the trooper testified that the defendant had consumed enough alcohol to impair his ability to drive. Brf. of App. 15. The defendant then makes the bald claim that "[t]he case law does not support the scientific reliability of this conclusion, making [the trooper's] testimony misleading and prejudicial."

What is misleading are the defendant's claims on this issue. The defendant cites to *State v. Koch*, 126 Wn. App. 589, 103 P.3d 1280 (2005). What *Koch* holds is that the officer could not testify to *specific* levels of intoxication. *Koch, supra* at 597. The trooper did not testify that the defendant was a .15 based on the HGN. The trooper testified that there was "no doubt" that the defendant was impaired. 2RP 33. This testimony is well within the holding of *Koch*.

The defendant repeats his arguments pertaining to the trooper's testimony and how it is an opinion of guilt.

# B. THE DEFENDANT HAS NOT MET HIS BURDEN TO SHOW THAT ANY ALLEGED PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT WAS PREJUDICIAL.

The defendant claims prosecutorial misconduct because the prosecutor inquired, on re-direct, regarding why the defendant's license was revoked. The State trooper testified that the defendant's license was suspended because the defendant had previously refused to take a breath test. 2RP 49.

The defendant fails to note that the defense counsel cross-examined the trooper and asked: "His driver's license was suspended. Right?" 2RP 43. Then defense counsel asked "Did you run his driver's license?" 2RP 43. The defense counsel's next question was: "Was it suspended?" 2RP 43. The trooper replied that the defendant's license was "...revoked first." 2RP 43.

The defendant cites to CrR 8.3, arguing that the prosecutor committed misconduct. The record shows that the prosecutor did mention in closing argument that the defendant's license was revoked because he had refused a breath test. 2RP 87.

What the defendant does not note is the trial court sustained defense counsel's objection to the prosecutor's statement and the trial court granted the defendant's request for a "limiting instruction." 2RP 10. The jury was advised to disregard the prosecutor's last comment. 2RP 10. Juries are presumed to follow the court's instructions. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 718 P.2d 407 (1986).

The defendant also fails to point out that this was the *second* time the jury had heard the information regarding the defendant's license being suspended for failure to take a breath test. 2RP 50. Prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal only if there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the verdict. *State v. Padilla*, 69 Wn. App. 295, 846 P.2d 564 (1993), *State v. Barrow*, 60 Wn. App. 869, 809 P.2d 209 (1991). The defendant must show prejudice. *State v. Suarez-Bravo*, 72 Wn. App. 359, 864 P.2d 426 (1994).

In testing the degree of error engendered by the remarks, their comparative impropriety, and their likely effect upon the jury, consideration must be given to whether they were inadvertent or deliberate, designed to inflame and prejudice the jury, or whether they unintentionally may have done so. Their prejudicial or

inflammatory effect must be viewed in context with the earlier evidence and the circumstances of the trial in which they were made.

Even if one assumes, arguendo, that the prosecutor's remarks were misconduct, the defense bears the burden of showing that there is a substantial likelihood that the comments affected the verdict. *State v. Wood*, 44 Wn. App. 139, 721 P.2d 541 (1986) *review denied*, 44 Wn. App. 139 (1986).

# C. THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE DOES NOT APPLY.

The State does not concede that any reversible errors occurred in this case.

Therefore, the cumulative error doctrine does not apply.

# D. REPEATING AN ARGUMENT REGARDING AN ALLEGED ERROR DOES NOT MAKE THE ALLEGATION ANY STRONGER.

The defendant, apparently not satisfied with raising his prosecutorial misconduct arguments, reprises those arguments under the guise of a CrR 8.3 argument.

The defendant faults both the prosecutor and the trial court for alleged misconduct by the prosecutor in rebuttal closing argument. The defendant involves the trial court by including in his argument an alleged failure to act by the trial court.

The State responded to this argument previously. The State noted that the information that is under discussion came as no surprise to the jury. This "closing rebuttal" incident was the *second* time the jury had heard the information regarding the defendant's license being suspended for failure to take a breath test. 2RP 50. What the defendant does not note is the trial court sustained defense counsel's objection to the prosecutor's later statement and the trial court granted the defendant's request for a "limiting instruction." 2RP 10 The jury was advised to disregard the prosecutor's last comment. 2RP 10. Juries are presumed to follow the court's instructions. *State v. Emery, supra; State v. Mak, supra*.

The prosecutor noted during the motion hearing on the CrR 8.3 motion that she had mistakenly mentioned the defendant's license being suspended for failure to take a breath test. It would appear from looking at the transcript that the trial court permitted testimony that simply noted the defendant's revoked license but not testimony regarding the reason for revocation being failure to take a breath test. This is a fine distinction that was overlooked by the prosecutor. The comment was removed from the jury's deliberations by trial court instructions to disregard the comment.

V.

# CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the conviction of the defendant should be affirmed.